

This document can be obtained in an alternate form	at for
individuals with disabilities upon request by contacti	ng: DHS
Seniors and People with Disabilities at	Available
formats are: large print, Braille, audio tape recording),
electronic format and oral presentation	

Table of contents

Overview of adult foster homes	1
The consumer's choice	1
When adult foster care should be considered	2
Care services offered in adult foster homes	2
Short-term versus long-term needs	3
The care plan	3
Adult foster home lists	3
Adult foster home public files	4
Visiting adult foster homes	4
Payment for adult foster home care	5
Medicaid financial assistance	6
The Resident's Bill of Rights	7
Adult foster home providers	8
Involvement of family and friends	8
Problem solving	8
The Office of the Long Term Care Ombudsman	9
Adult foster home classifications	9
Activities of daily living (ADLs)	9
Classification of adult foster homes	10
ADL needs check list	11
Adult foster home checklist	12
Notes	16

Overview of adult foster homes

Adult foster homes

Adult foster homes are single family residences that offer care in a homelike setting. Adult foster homes in Oregon are inspected and licensed. The adult foster home provider must meet certain standards to obtain a license. Staff from the Oregon Department of Human Services (DHS), Seniors and People with Disabilities (SPD), or the Area Agency on Aging (AAA) offices verify the qualifications of the caregiver, conduct yearly licensing inspections, and investigate complaints and concerns.

All adult foster home providers and primary caregivers must:

- Pass a criminal record check;
- Complete a basic training course and pass an exam;
- Be physically and mentally able to provide care; and
- Provide care in a home that meets structural and safety requirements.

The consumer's choice

Adult foster care is often chosen by consumers because care is provided in a homelike setting and can be quite affordable. Informal adult foster care has been a part of our society for years. People unable to maintain their health while living alone moved in with family, friends or neighbors.

In adult foster homes, medical and personal care are provided to you in a manner that encourages maximum independence and enhances the quality of your life. Care and supervision are provided to maintain a safe and secure setting. You can decide to refuse the care and service offered if it conflicts with your wishes. Adult foster home providers strive to provide good care and services through a cooperative relationship between the care provider and you.

The adult foster home setting protects and encourages your dignity, choice and decision-making. Your needs will be addressed in a manner that supports and enables you to maximize your abilities to function at the highest level of independence possible.

As a resident of an adult foster home, you should take an active role in discussing your care needs with the provider. You are encouraged to maintain contact with your family, friends and community groups as you adjust to your new home.

When adult foster care should be considered

Most people would like to remain in their own homes as long as possible. However, sometimes it becomes too difficult to do the everyday tasks of life, even with the help of others. Adult foster care offers the benefits of care and services in a homelike setting.

Any combination of the items listed below may mean that you or someone you know could benefit from the services offered in an adult foster home:

- Difficulty preparing meals or maintaining adequate nutrition;
- Forgetting to take medications or taking the wrong amounts;
- Unable to manage daily personal needs such as bathing, dressing, shopping, cooking, laundry or transportation;
- Bruising, scratches or other injuries from falls;
- Ongoing illness or a need for rehabilitation;
- Difficulty coping with feelings of depression, anxiety or fear;
- Difficulty remembering people, places or other things that were once familiar; or
- Family and friends are no longer able to provide adequate care and support.

Care services offered in adult foster homes

- Meals and help with eating;
- Help with dressing;
- Grooming and hygiene;
- Bowel and bladder care (incontinence);
- Help with walking or getting in or out of bed (mobility);
- Help with behavioral issues (behavior management);
- Help with medications; and
- Activities.

Some providers are able to provide more complex care because of their training and background or with help from visiting nurses. A caregiver may receive instruction from a registered nurse to perform a care task specific to a particular resident. In some cases, providers may be able to meet your care needs if you are coming to the adult foster home directly from the hospital after surgery or you are recovering from a serious illness.



Other adult foster home providers have special training to provide care for people with Alzheimer's disease, brain injuries, AIDS, respiratory failure, or the need for Hospice services.

Short-term versus long-term needs

The services provided depend on your individual wants and needs. You may only need short-term services to help you return home.

Some adult foster home providers offer short-term care for a few days or weeks. Usually, services are long-term because of a life-long disability or illness. The adult foster home may be able to provide services for as long as they are needed. Remaining in the adult foster home depends on your choice, your needs and the provider's ability to meet those needs.

The care plan

The care plan is developed during the first two weeks you are at the foster home. It is updated on a regular basis to reflect your individual needs and wishes. Input from family members and medical professionals may also be included in the care plan at your request.

The care plan is the provider's written summary of your needs and abilities. It covers:

- What you can do for yourself;
- What care is needed;
- Who will provide it; and
- When and how often.

Adult foster home lists

Before you visit any adult foster homes you may want to contact your local DHS or AAA office to obtain a list of licensed adult foster homes in your area. DHS updates this list regularly. To obtain a list, call the DHS or AAA office in your area.

Adult foster home public files

To help you decide which foster home you would like to choose, you can review the public files to obtain information about any foster home. The information includes:

- The location of the adult foster home;
- A description of the home;
- The date the license was first issued;
- The level of care provided in the home (see page 10);

- A report and date of the last licensing inspection;
- Copies of complaint investigations;
- Corrective action involving the home; and
- Whether or not the provider lives in the home.

You can review the public files in person by visiting the local DHS or Area Agency on Aging office in your area.

Visiting adult foster homes

It is important to visit adult foster homes before making a choice. You and your family could visit together. You may want to spend several hours or an entire day, when possible, at the home. Some things to keep in mind while visiting the homes are:

Who provides care in the home?

- The owner, who lives in the home; or
- A resident manager who lives in the home and is hired by the owner.

Other questions to consider are:

- What are the schedules or routines of the home?
- What are the care needs of the other residents?
- Would you feel comfortable living with the other residents and caregivers in the home?

One of the best ways to review a home is to plan a visit around mealtime. Meals are an important social time and visiting during that time will allow you to see the kind and quality of food being prepared. You can also see:

- How caregivers relate to the residents; and
- How residents interact with one another.

Although any foster home should be neat, clean and orderly, you should also look for good care. Caring staff who respect the dignity of each resident is important.

Select the home that feels right for you!

Payment for adult foster home care

Cost is an important factor when considering care and services. Most providers charge a monthly rate based on care needs and whether a bedroom is shared with another resident. All adult foster homes must have a contract for residents who are not receiving Medicaid. The contract should include the following:

- I. Basic monthly rate**
- Room,
- Meals,
- • Laundry, and
- • Specified basic services.
- II: Additional services**

The provider may also include a fee for each additional service such as:

- Incontinence care,
- Assistance with eating,
- Diabetic monitoring,
- • Special diets,
- Transportation,
- • Mobility and transfers,
- • Skilled nursing tasks,
- Night-time care, and
- Dementia care.

The basic monthly rate will always require 30 days written notice to the resident before it can be changed. However, the additional service fees can be made effective at the time the service

becomes necessary, if it has been stated in the contract.

Be sure to review the contract and ask questions before choosing a home. The contract must contain the monthly rate; other service rates, if any; a refund policy; any refundable deposits the provider requires; and terms for ending the contract.

**These services and costs vary between homes and must be specified in the contract.



Medicaid financial assistance

If you cannot afford to pay for your care and want to know if you qualify for Medicaid assistance, contact your local office of the Department of Human Services or Area Agency on Aging.

You do not need to use all of your assets to qualify for Medicaid assistance. It is important to check with a DHS or AAA office when only one spouse needs long-term care services. In such cases, a portion of the assets of the spouse who is living in their own personal home may be protected. When you are considering any of the long-term care options for yourself or for

others, you need to know what choices

are available.

If you are eligible for Medicaid assistance, the local DHS office will determine the total amount the provider will be paid for your care. Based on your income, DHS will decide how much Medicaid will pay and how much you will need to pay of the total amount. The provider must accept that amount as payment in full and cannot ask you or any other person to pay more money.

If you become eligible for Medicaid after you are in a foster home and the provider has a Medicaid contract, the provider cannot ask you to move if the amount of the Medicaid payment is lower than the



amount you paid privately. If the provider does not have a Medicaid contract, you may be asked to move. When visiting homes be sure to ask if the provider has a contract with the State of Oregon to accept Medicaid payment.

The Resident's Bill of Rights

When you move into an adult foster home, you do not give up any of your civil rights nor any rights as an Oregon citizen. Caregivers in adult foster must respect your privacy, dignity, independence and your right to make choices. Each adult foster home must post the Resident's Bill of Rights in the home and discuss those rights with each resident at the time of admission.

Each resident has the right to:

- (a) Be treated as an adult with respect and dignity;
- (b) Be informed of all resident rights and all house policies;
- (c) Be encouraged and assisted to exercise constitutional and legal rights including the right to vote;
- (d) Be informed of their medical condition and the right to consent to or refuse treatment;
- (e) Receive appropriate care and services and prompt medical care as needed;
- (f) Be free from mental and physical abuse;
- (g) Complete privacy when receiving treatment or personal care;
- (h) Associate and communicate privately with any person of choice and send and receive personal mail unopened;
- (i) Have access to and participate in activities of social, religious, and community groups;
- (j) Have medical and personal information kept confidential;
- (k) Keep and use a reasonable amount of personal clothing and belongings, and to have a reasonable amount of private, secure storage space;
- (l) Be free from chemical and physical restraints except as ordered by a physician or other qualified practitioner. Restraints are used only for medical reasons, to maximize a resident's physical functioning, and after other alternatives have been tried. Restraints are not used for discipline or convenience;
- (m) Manage own financial affairs unless legally restricted;
- (n) Be free from financial exploitation. The provider must not charge or ask for application fees or non-refundable deposits or solicit, accept or receive money or property from a resident other than the amount agreed to for services;
- (o) A written agreement regarding services to be provided and the rates to be charged. The provider must give 30 days' written notice before any change in the rates or the ownership of the home;
- (p) Not to be transferred or moved out of the adult foster home without 30 days' written notice and an opportunity for a hearing. A provider may transfer a resident only for medical reasons or for the welfare of the resident or other residents, or for nonpayment;
- (q) A safe and secure environment;
- (r) Be free of discrimination in regard to race, color, national origin, sex or religion; and
- (s) Make suggestions or complaints without fear of retaliation.

Adult foster home providers

Adult foster home providers lose some privacy when they choose to provide care and services in their homes. However, they have a right to their own personal safety. They also have a right to expect the cooperation of others so they can operate the home in an efficient and effective manner. Cooperation and mutual respect make it easier for the provider to give the quality of care you as a resident deserve.

One necessary area of cooperation is fire evacuation drills. For the safety of all, every resident is expected to participate in fire evacuation drills.

Involvement of family and friends

Many people rely on the support of family and friends when making a decision to live in an adult foster home. Those close to you may offer helpful advice to consider before you move in, but remember, the choice is yours. No one except a court-appointed legal guardian may select a home against your wishes.

Once you have chosen a home, family and friends can help to make the move as easy as possible. Continue to do the things you enjoyed. Keep in touch with family and friends and ask them to visit you often.

Problem solving

People often have an adjustment period when they move to an adult foster home. This adjustment period may affect you, your family, your friends and the foster home household. You may have mixed feelings about moving to an adult foster home. It is common to feel loneliness, resentment, anger or worry about this major life change. Adjusting may take weeks and you may need more support at this time.

Ongoing contact between you, your family, your friends and the provider may help to address concerns before they become problems. Cooperation and a willingness to try to resolve problems are important.

If you have any suggestions or concerns about the adult foster home you have chosen, do not ignore those feelings. Talk about them. It's your right to voice complaints. There are several ways to do this:

- You can tell your concern to the provider;
- You can contact the local office of the Oregon Department of Human Services or the Area Agency on Aging;
- You can call the Office of the Long-Term Care Ombudsman; and
- You can ask family or friends to help on your behalf.

You may decide you are not satisfied with the home you live in and the services you receive. You have the right to give the adult foster home provider a written notice if you decide to move. Another move may seem difficult but there is help for you. Contact your local DHS office or the Office of the Long-Term Care Ombudsman.

The Office of the Long-Term Care Ombudsman

A major goal of the Long-Term Care Ombudsman Program is to visit and respond to resident needs and concerns. The program protects the rights and privileges of the residents of long-term care facilities and can be helpful to residents, their families and their friends.

Anyone with concerns about the quality of care or the rights of residents at an adult foster home can contact the Office of the Long-Term Care Ombudsman at their toll-free number: 1-800-522-2602. You can also contact your DHS or Area Agency on Aging office. If you do not have the number for your local office, call 1-800-232-3020 to obtain that phone number.

Adult foster home classifications

There are three classifications of adult foster home licenses in Oregon. The classifications are based on the experience and/or training of the provider. Each home has a license posted that indicates the classification of the home.

In each classification, the provider can only admit residents with a certain number of impairments. These impairments are defined according to six major activities of daily living (ADLs). These are eating/nutrition, dressing, personal hygiene, mobility, toileting and behavior management.

Activities of daily living (ADLs)

- Eating/nutrition. The ability to eat with or without special equipment.
- Dressing. The ability to dress and undress and to comb one's hair, file nails, use makeup, etc.
- Personal hygiene. The ability to bathe, wash hair, shave and care for teeth.
- Toileting. The ability to get to and from the toilet, to wash afterward and to adjust clothing.
- Mobility. The ability to get around, both inside and outside of the home, using items like canes and wheelchairs, if necessary, and the ability to transfer from bed or wheelchair.
- Behavior management. The ability to understand one's needs in areas such as health and safety. Any issues with confusion, disorientation, forgetfulness or wandering may be a behavior management need.

Classification of adult foster homes

Classification	Qualifications of provider	Type of care provided
Class I	Less than two years experience providing direct care. Completion of basic training course.	Residents may need assistance in up to four activities of daily living (ADLs).
Class II	Two or more years experience providing direct care. Completion of basic training course.	Residents may need assistance in all ADLs but are dependent in no more than three.
Class III	Health care professionals or others with a least three years experience providing care to people who are dependent. Completion of basic training course.	Residents may be dependent in four or more ADLs. The home may have only one resident at a time who is totally dependent.

DHS may allow, by written exception, a person to live in any classification of a home. The provider must be able to meet your needs, the needs of other residents, and all health and safety standards.

ADL needs check list

To determine which adult foster home is licensed to meet your care needs, you may find the following tool useful:

Instructions: For each activity of daily living, use the following check list:

- **Independent:** You do not need the help of another person to do a task.
- Assistance: You need the help of another person to do part of a task.
- **Dependent:** You need the help of another person to do all of a task

Check the box that identifies the care you need for each activity of daily living.

Activities of daily living	Independent	Assistance	Dependent
Eating/nutrition			
Dressing			
Personal hygiene			
Toileting			
Mobility			
Behavior management			
Total			

Total each column.

- If you have checked all the ADLs as being independent or have checked you need assistance with up to four ADLs, any classification could meet your needs.
- If you have checked you need assistance in all ADLs or have checked you are dependent in less than four ADLs, a class II or III home could meet your care needs.
- If you have checked you are dependent in four or more ADLs, a class III home could meet your needs.

Adult foster home checklist

• After you know the classification of the adult foster home you need, the next step is to call and visit some homes. The following checklist can help you decide which home you want to live in. Some questions may be more important to you than others.

(Instructions: Fill in the answers for the following two questions.)

Caregiver questions	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Who is the main caregiver in the home?			
If a resident manager provides the care, how long has she/he worked in the home?			

(Instructions: Answer the following questions with a "Yes" or a "No.")

General issues	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Does the home have a current adult foster home license posted?			
Does the home have the license classification for your care needs?			
Is the home close to family, physician, and social contacts?			
Do you like the home, yard and furnishings?			
Does the daily routine of the home meet your lifestyle?			
Do the residents interact well with each others?			
Would you feel comfortable living with the residents and caregivers in the home?			
Do the caregivers respect the residents' privacy? (e.g., knocking on doors, not disclosing personal information about residents.)			
Does the home seem comfortable to you?			

General issues (continued)	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Do the other residents appear well cared for and content?			
If pets, smoking or alcohol use is allowed in the home, is that okay with you?			
Do you like the house policies and visiting hours?			
If the provider's family members are in the home (spouse, children, relatives), is that okay with you?			
Has this owner been a licensed provider long enough for you to feel comfortable?			
Do they understand your needs?			
Will your personal choices such as religious practice be supported?			
Bedrooms	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Is the available bedroom private ?			
If you have to share a room, is that okay with you?			
Do you like the furniture (such as bed, dresser or lamp)?			
Can you bring your own furniture?			
Is there space to bring some of your own furniture, if you want to?			
Is phone and/or TV/cable available?			
Is phone and/or TV/cable included in the cost?			
General environment	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Are there smoke detectors, fire extinguishers, and a posted evacuation plan?			
Is there good lighting throughout the home?			

Accessibility	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Are halls, doorways and bathrooms wide enough for walking and the use of canes, walkers or wheelchairs?			
Is there enough room in the rest of the home to use canes, walkers or wheelchairs?			
Are there objects or stairs that would make it hard to move around by yourself? Look inside and outside the home.			
Are ramps available for wheelchair use?			
Bathroom(s)	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Is it clean and odor free?			
Is it close to the bedroom?			
Does it have safety grab bars and equipment?			
Are there fans or windows for ventilation?			
Care issues	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Is there an intercom system between residents' and the provider's bedrooms?			
If yes, can it be turned off for privacy?			
If you have hearing or sight problems, can the provider meet your needs?			
Will the provider meet night-time needs to your satisfaction?			
Are there activities offered (as a group or alone) that you would enjoy?			
Is transportation available?			
Does the provider/caregiver have experience caring for persons with your health needs?			
Are there caregivers in the home when the provider is gone (shopping, vacations, social outings, etc.)?			

Meals	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Do the meals and snacks appear tasty and nutritious?			
Are the residents asked what they want to eat when planning meals?			
Can special diet needs be met?			
Will meals meet your cultural, religious or food preferences?			
Financial	Home #1	Home #2	Home #3
Does the provider have a private pay contract for you to review?			
Is there a fee for transportation?			
Is there a bed hold fee?			
Is there a refundable deposit for damages beyond normal wear and tear?			
Do you like the terms of the contract?			
Does the home accept Medicaid residents?			
Does the contract have a schedule of rates?			
Does the contract require an advance payment?			
Is there an acceptable refund policy?			

Review your responses to these questions. That will help you select the home that meets your needs.
NOTES

Oregon Department of Human Services Seniors and People with Disabilities Division 500 Summer Street NE, E13 Salem, Oregon 97301

